In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

WILLIAM STAMPS,

v.

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S255843



Jorge Navarrete Clerk

First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A154091 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. 17CR010629 The Honorable James P. Cramer, Judge

Deputy

RESPONDENT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

Is a certificate of probable cause required to appeal on the ground that intervening legislation retroactively revives individualized judicial sentencing discretion foreclosed by a plea agreement? (See Pen. Code, § 1237.5.)¹

INTRODUCTION

Section 1237.5 provides in relevant part that "[n]o appeal shall be taken by the defendant from a judgment of conviction upon a plea of guilty or nolo contendere . . . except where both of the following are met: [¶] (a) The defendant has filed with the trial court a written statement, executed under oath or penalty of perjury showing reasonable constitutional, jurisdictional or other grounds going to the legality of the proceedings. [¶] (b) The trial court has executed and filed a certificate of probable cause for such appeal with the clerk of the court." "The purpose for requiring a certificate of probable cause is to discourage and weed out frivolous or vexatious appeals" in order "to promote judicial economy." (People v. Panizzon (1996) 13 Cal.4th 68, 75.) Though there are exceptions to the certificate requirement (see, e.g., Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.304(b)(4)).² "[i]t has long been established that issues going to the validity of a plea require compliance with section 1237.5" (Panizzon, at p. 76). Failure to obtain a certificate for such issues mandates dismissal of the appeal. (People v. Mendez (1999) 19 Cal.4th 1084, 1096, 1099.)

Appellant agreed to a nine-year prison term as part of a negotiated disposition that included his no-contest plea to a residential burglary and admission to a prior serious felony conviction. Following imposition of the

¹ Further undesignated statutory references are to the Penal Code.

² Further undesignated rule references are to the California Rules of Court.

agreed sentence, the trial court denied appellant's request for a certificate of probable cause. Appellant did not seek writ review of that ruling. Nevertheless, on appeal, he sought resentencing in the hope that the trial court would reduce his stipulated sentence by five years pursuant to Senate Bill No. 1393 (SB 1393). That bill took effect after appellant's sentencing and amended section 1385 to delete former subdivision (b), giving trial courts discretion they previously lacked to dismiss prior serious felony enhancements. (Stats. 2018, ch. 1013, §§ 1, 2.)

In seeking to reduce "the very sentence he negotiated as part of the plea bargain, [appellant] is, in substance, attacking the validity of the plea." (*Panizzon, supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 78.) Because he failed to secure a certificate of probable cause for his claim, his appeal is inoperative and must be dismissed pursuant to section 1237.5. (*Mendez, supra*, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 1096, 1099.) The Court of Appeal, however, found no certificate was required for appellant's claim, reasoning that a challenge to an agreed sentence based on a retroactive change in law does not constitute an attack on the plea's validity. Although it acknowledged that the terms of the plea agreement might prohibit striking the prior serious felony enhancement, it nevertheless remanded for reconsideration of appellant's sentence in light of SB 1393. (*People v. Stamps* (2019) 34 Cal.App.5th 117, 121, 124-125, review granted June 12, 2019, S255843.)

Failure to dismiss the appeal for lack of a certificate was error. This Court has made clear that the certificate requirement "should be applied in a strict manner." (*Mendez*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 1098.) In dispensing with the requirement based on its determination that SB 1393 applies retroactively to stipulated sentences, the Court of Appeal carved a new exception into section 1237.5 based on the merits of appellant's claim. But section 1237.5 "is procedural in nature" (*Mendez*, at p. 1095), governing the timely investing of appellate jurisdiction over certificate issues. Its

applicability does not turn on whether a claim is meritorious. The certificate requirement, therefore, applies whether or not SB 1393 reaches defendants, like appellant, who agreed to specific sentences.

Moreover, *In re Estrada* (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740 does not compel the conclusion that SB 1393 permits defendants who agreed to specific sentences to request a remand for the trial court to exercise a sentencing discretion that the parties not only never contemplated, but undertook to eliminate. Given that the vast majority of felony cases are settled by plea, allowing noncertificate appeals in such circumstances would impose significant and unjustified costs on the criminal justice system. Indeed, "defendants who have received the benefit of their bargain should not be allowed to trifle with the courts by attempting to better the bargain through the appellate process." (*People v. Hester* (2000) 22 Cal.4th 290, 295; see also *People v. Kelly* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 1013, 1018, review granted June 12, 2019, S255145.) Thus, where, as here, the parties have agreed to a specific sentence as part of a negotiated plea, the defendant must obtain a certificate of probable cause to pursue an appeal challenging that sentence. Failure to do so requires dismissal of the appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A complaint charged appellant with three counts of first degree residential burglary (§ 459) and alleged two prior strikes (§§ 667, subd. (e)(2), 1170.12, subd. (a)), two prior serious felony convictions (§§ 667, subd. (a)(1), 1170.12, subd. (c)(2)), and three prior prison-term commitments (§ 667.5, subd. (b)). (CT 1-5.)

Appellant pleaded no contest to one count of first degree burglary and admitted one prior strike and one prior serious felony conviction. In exchange, the prosecutor moved to dismiss the remaining burglary charges and other allegations. (CT 24-28, 30-36.) The parties agreed to a nine-year prison term, composed of the low term of two years for the burglary,

doubled pursuant to the Three Strikes law, and a five-year enhancement pursuant to section 667, subdivision (a)(1). (CT 26, 30-32, 35-36.)

The court imposed the agreed sentence on January 10, 2018. (CT 53-54.) Appellant noticed appeal "based on the sentence or other matters occurring after the plea that do not affect the validity of the plea." (CT 55.) However, he also sought a certificate of probable cause on the following grounds: "My base term was 2 years for a 1st degree burglary residential, which was a serious non-violent crime, where no forced entry was made. I only went into a carport garage (walk through) that was attached to an apartment complex. Besides the 2-year base term, I was also given 7 years of enhancements which made it 9 years 80%.... I truly believed I was unfairly sentenced." (CT 55-56.) The trial court denied a certificate.³ (CT 56.)

On September 30, 2018, about six months after the notice of appeal, the Governor signed SB 1393 into law. The bill took effect January 1, 2019, giving trial courts discretion to strike or dismiss prior serious felony convictions. (§§ 667, subd. (a), 1385, subd. (b), as amended by Stats. 2018, ch. 1013, §§ 1, 2.) The new law applies retroactively to nonfinal judgments. (*People v. Garcia* (2018) 28 Cal.App.5th 961, 973.)

³ Appellant entered an appellate waiver, which read: "I hereby give up my right to appeal from this conviction, including an appeal from the denial of any pretrial motions." (CT 28.) The Court of Appeal concluded that appellant's waiver constituted a "general waiver of his appellate rights that did not preclude review of his sentence." (*Stamps*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 120, fn. 3.) Respondent did not argue below that appellant waived his right to appeal. However, in light of recent case authority, respondent disagrees with the Court of Appeal's conclusion on this point. If a "'defendant agrees to a bargain which includes a specific or indicated sentence, and if that is the sentence actually imposed, the defendant's waiver will foreclose appellate review of the sentence." (*People v. Barton* (2019) 32 Cal.App.5th 1088, 1095, review granted June 19, 2019, S255214.)

The Court of Appeal agreed with appellant that because SB 1393 went into effect before his judgment was final, he was entitled to a new sentencing hearing so the trial court could decide whether to strike or dismiss his prior serious felony enhancement. (*Stamps*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at pp. 119-120.) The Court of Appeal concluded that section 1237.5 "does not apply when the challenge is based on a retroactive change in the law." (*Id.* at p. 121.)

ARGUMENT

I. FAILURE TO SECURE A CERTIFICATE OF PROBABLE CAUSE FOR A CLAIM SEEKING TO REDUCE A STIPULATED SENTENCE, WHICH CONSTITUTES AN ATTACK ON THE VALIDITY OF THE PLEA, COMPELLS DISMISSAL OF THE APPEAL

Section 1237.5 requires "the defendant to set forth grounds for appeal" and the trial court "to rule on the issue of probable cause." (People v. Ribero (1971) 4 Cal.3d 55, 62.) Its objective "is to promote judicial economy 'by screening out wholly frivolous guilty [and no contest] plea appeals before time and money is spent preparing the record and the briefs for consideration by the reviewing court." (Panizzon, supra, 13 Cal.4th at pp. 75-76.) Section 1237.5 "should be applied in a strict manner" and does "not invite consideration of the peculiar facts of the individual appeal": instead, it "effectively precludes [ad hoc] dispensations of this sort, which are 'squarely contrary' to its terms." (Mendez, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 1098.) This Court has emphasized that a defendant cannot "obtain review of certificate issues" except by complying with the rules "fully, and, specifically, in a timely fashion." (Id. at p. 1099.) "Even when a defendant purports to challenge only the sentence imposed, a certificate of probable cause is required if the challenge goes to an aspect of the sentence to which the defendant agreed as an integral part of the plea agreement." (People v. Johnson (2009) 47 Cal.4th 668, 678; accord, Panizzon, at pp. 76-78.)

There are only two exceptions to the certificate requirement: (1) appeals challenging the denial of a motion to suppress evidence, as explicitly authorized by section 1538.5, subdivision (m); and (2) "postplea claims, including sentencing issues that do not challenge the validity of the plea." (People v. Cuevas (2008) 44 Cal.4th 374, 379; see rule 8.304(b)(4).) "In determining whether section 1237.5 applies to a challenge of a sentence imposed after a plea of guilty or no contest, courts must look to the substance of the appeal: the crucial issue is what the defendant is challenging, not the time or manner in which the challenge is made. [Citation.] Hence, the critical inquiry is whether a challenge to the sentence is in substance a challenge to the validity of the plea, thus rendering the appeal subject to the requirements of section 1237.5. [Citations.]" (People v. Buttram (2003) 30 Cal.4th 773, 781-782, internal quotation marks omitted.) For example, when the parties negotiate a maximum prison term, they "leave to judicial discretion the proper sentencing choice within the agreed limit," and "appellate issues relating to this reserved discretion are therefore outside the plea bargain and cannot constitute an attack upon its validity." (Id. at p. 789, fn. omitted.) By contrast, where "the parties agree to a specified sentence, any challenge to that sentence attacks a term, and thus the validity, of the plea itself." (Ibid.)

Appellant agreed to a nine-year prison term, including a five-year enhancement imposed under section 667, subdivision (a)(1). (CT 3-5, 24-36.) By requesting a remand under SB 1393 to allow the trial court to strike or dismiss the enhancement—which comprised over half of his stipulated sentence—appellant attacks the validity of his plea. Because "a challenge to a negotiated sentence imposed as part of a plea bargain is properly viewed as a challenge to the validity of the plea itself," it was "incumbent upon [appellant] to seek and obtain a probable cause certificate in order to attack the sentence on appeal." (*Panizzon*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at

p. 79; see also *In re Chavez* (2003) 30 Cal.4th 643, 650, fn. 3 [reiterating *Panizzon*].) His failure to do so requires dismissal of the appeal. (*Mendez*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at pp. 1096, 1099; see also *People v. Enlow* (1998) 64 Cal.App.4th 850, 852-854 [holding a certificate was required for an appeal challenging a stipulated sentence based on a statutory amendment reducing punishment for recidivist auto theft].)

Although it acknowledged that a challenge to a stipulated sentence "ordinarily" requires a certificate of probable cause, the Court of Appeal agreed with the Second District Court of Appeal's conclusion in People v. Hurlic (2018) 25 Cal. App. 5th 50 that "the ordinary rule does not apply when the challenge is based on a retroactive change in the law." (Stamps, supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 121.) In finding that exception to section 1237.5, the Court of Appeal necessarily resolved in appellant's favor his claim that SB 1393 entitled him to a remand for resentencing. Curiously, it also found that the trial court could deny resentencing on remand by deeming SB 1393 incompatible with the plea agreement. (See Stamps, at p. 124 ["In exercising its discretion, the trial court is not precluded from considering whether [striking the prior] would be incompatible with the agreement on which defendant's plea was based"].) That contradictory result well illustrates the sound basis for decisions of this Court holding that appellate courts lack the power to dispense with the certificate requirement based on the view that a defendant's claim is meritorious.

In *Mendez*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th 1084, this Court stated that without a certificate of probable cause, "the Court of Appeal generally may not proceed to the merits of the appeal, but must order dismissal thereof." (*Id.* at p. 1096.) It explained that "the search for 'judicial economy' in the expedient disposition of the individual appeal and its peculiar issues ha[d] been costly" and "must be abandoned" in favor of strict compliance with section 1237.5. (*Id.* at p. 1098.) That section "lays down a 'condition

precedent' to the taking of an appeal within its scope" and constitutes "a general 'legislative command' to defendants," not "an authorization for 'ad hoc dispensations' from such a command by courts." (*Ibid.*)

By creating a new exception to the certificate requirement based on the perceived merit of the claim, the Court of Appeal here and in *Hurlic* squarely contradicted the terms of section 1237.5 and this Court's express holding in *Mendez* that the provision "should be applied in a strict manner." (*Mendez*, supra, 19 Cal.4th at p. 1098.) "Strict adherence" to the certificate requirement is "vital" because judgments entered upon pleas of guilty or no contest "represent the vast majority of felony and misdemeanor dispositions in criminal cases." (*Chavez*, supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 654, fn. 5.) Indeed, permitting noncertificate appeals to seek an exercise of judicial sentencing discretion that is incompatible with the stipulated sentence provisions of countless felony plea agreements would impose a significant burden on the state's criminal justice system. That cost would be particularly unwarranted in the context of plea bargains for specified sentences that by their terms preclude the court's exercise of sentencing discretion and which have already been approved and imposed by the trial court.

It must be remembered that the right to appeal is "subject to complete legislative control," meaning the Legislature "has the power to change the procedure, limit the right, or even abolish the right to appeal altogether." (People v. Callahan (1997) 54 Cal.App.4th 1419, 1422; People v. Mazurette (2001) 24 Cal.4th 789, 792 ["It is settled that the right of appeal is statutory and that a judgment or order is not appealable unless expressly made so by statute"].) Thus, for example, while an appellate court generally has the authority to reach a question that has not been preserved for review by a party, "it is in fact barred when the issue involves the admission (Evid. Code, § 353) or exclusion (id., § 354) of evidence." (People v. Williams (1998) 17 Cal.4th 148, 161, fn. 6, italics added.)

41

Likewise, by enacting section 1237.5, the Legislature has *barred* the Courts of Appeal from considering plea appeals raising issues that concern the validity of the plea unless the defendant has first obtained a certificate of probable cause. (See *Chavez*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 646.)

Requiring strict compliance with section 1237.5, moreover, does not impose an undue hardship on defendants with meritorious claims. In order to obtain a certificate of probable cause, such a defendant need only demonstrate that his or her claim "involves an honest difference of opinion" and is not "clearly frivolous or vexatious." (Ribero, supra, 4 Cal.3d at p. 63, fn. 4.) Section 1237.5 also does not limit the issues that may be raised on appeal once a certificate of probable cause has been obtained, meaning a defendant may raise cognizable claims not identified in the statement of grounds or the trial court's certificate of probable cause. (People v. Hoffard (1995) 10 Cal.4th 1170, 1177.) "If the trial court wrongfully refuses to issue a certificate, the defendant may seek a writ of mandate from the appellate court." (Johnson, supra, 47 Cal.4th at p. 676.) If the defendant is precluded from securing a certificate within the time limits of rules 8.304(b) and 8.308(a),⁴ he may file a petition for writ of habeas corpus on grounds outside the trial record that do not involve an attempt to extend the time for appeal or to avoid the certificate requirement. (Compare In re Brown (1973) 9 Cal.3d 679, 682-683 with In re Harrell (1970) 2 Cal.3d 675, 705-706.)

But where, as here, a defendant fails to obtain a certificate to attack the agreed sentence, the Court of Appeal may not carve out an ad hoc exception to the requirement in order to reach an issue that it concedes

⁴ Together, rules 8.304(b) and 8.308(a) provide that a defendant appealing after a plea of guilty or no contest must obtain a certificate of probable cause within 80 days of the entry of judgment.

would otherwise be precluded from consideration. (See *Mendez*, *supra*, 19 Cal.4th at p. 1098.) "[T]he purposes behind section 1237.5 will remain vital only if appellate courts insist on compliance with its procedures." (*Panizzon*, *supra*, 13 Cal.4th at p. 89, fn. 15.) Section 1237.5's purpose of screening out frivolous claims can only be effectuated if the certificate requirement is strictly applied. Accordingly, the Court of Appeal erred in departing from this Court's established precedent requiring strict compliance with section 1237.5.

II. RETROACTIVE APPLICATION OF SENATE BILL NO. 1393 DOES NOT OBVIATE THE CERTIFICATE REQUIREMENT FOR AN APPEAL FROM A STIPULATED SENTENCE

There is no dispute that SB 1393 applies retroactively to nonfinal judgments. (See *Stamps*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 120.) Under *Estrada*, *supra*, 63 Cal.2d 740, when the Legislature reduces punishment or provides the trial court with discretion to impose a lesser penalty, courts generally assume that the Legislature intends the amendment to apply to judgments not final as of the new law's effective date. (*People v. Superior Court* (*Lara*) (2018) 4 Cal.5th 299, 307-308 & fn. 5.) Thus, because SB 1393 provides a possibility of a reduced sentence, it applies retroactively to nonfinal judgments, like appellant's. (*Garcia*, *supra*, 28 Cal.App.5th at p. 973.) It does not follow, however, that the certificate requirement does not apply to appeals raising challenges to an agreed sentence based on the new law.

A. Decisions of the Courts of Appeal on the Effect of Recent Postplea Amendatory Sentencing Legislation on the Certificate Requirement

The Courts of Appeal are divided on whether a certificate of probable cause is required for challenges to a stipulated sentence based on postplea amendatory sentencing legislation. As discussed below, while many have found that the certificate requirement still applies, the Court of Appeal here

reached the opposite conclusion, placing heavy reliance on *Hurlic*, *supra*, 25 Cal.App.5th 50, which addressed the application of Senate Bill No. 620 (SB 620) (2017-2018 Reg. Sess.) concerning firearm enhancements. (See *Stamps*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at pp. 121-122; *Hurlic*, at pp. 53-54.) Like SB 1393, SB 620 grants discretion to strike or dismiss enhancements that trial courts previously lacked. (*Hurlic*, at p. 54.)

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