# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

V.

William Stamps,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S255843

Alameda County Superior Court No. 17CR010629

SUPREME COURT FILED

NOV 1 2 2019

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Deputy

First Appellate District, Division Four, Case No. A154091 Alameda County Superior Court, Case No. 17CR01629 The Honorable James P. Cramer, Judge

#### APPELLANT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JONATHAN SOGLIN Executive Director

JAMES S. DONNELLY- SAALFIELD
(Bar No. 267297)
First District Appellate Project
475 Fourteenth Street, Suite 650
Oakland, CA 94612
Telephone: (415) 495-3119

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

In concluding that a certificate was unnecessary here, the appellate court below appropriately harmonized the intent behind both SB 1393 and section 1237.5 and avoided the negative repercussions that a contrary conclusion would have had on public policy. (See *People v. Superior Court (Zamudio)* (2000) 23 Cal.4th 183, 192-193; *People v. Smith, supra*, 32 Cal.4th at pp. 797-798.) The appellate court's decision was not only consistent with the cost-saving purpose of both SB 1393 and section 1237.5 but also effectuated latter's purpose of weeding out frivolous appeals and, to the greatest extent possible, equalized the treatment of those who entered into plea agreements before and after SB 1393's enactment.

In seeking to avoid this conclusion, respondent claims that, "[s]trict adherence' to the certificate requirement is 'vital' because judgments

entered upon pleas of guilty or no contest 'represent the vast majority of felony and misdemeanor dispositions in criminal cases.'" (ROB 15, quoting *Chavez*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 654, fn. 5.) According to respondent, permitting noncertificate appeals to seek an exercise of judicial sentencing discretion pursuant to retroactive ameliorative sentencing reforms would impose a substantial financial burden on the state's criminal justice system. (See ROB 14-15.)

Contrary to respondent's claim, dispensing with the certificate requirement and permitting courts to exercise their discretion pursuant to SB 1393 would likely result in substantial savings to the state's general fund. As explained above, the Legislature anticipated that restoring trial court's discretion to strike prior serious felonies pursuant to section 1385 would ultimately save the state millions of dollars per year and extending this discretion to nonfinal cases involving plea agreements with stipulated sentences would result in substantial savings even if trial courts only exercised their discretion to strike the enhancements in a small number of cases. Dispensing with the certificate requirement in these circumstances is also entirely consistent with section 1237.5's purposes of saving money and weeding out frivolous appeals. By concluding that the appeal here did not constitute an attack upon the validity of the plea, the decision below therefore appropriately harmonizes the relevant laws and effectuates both the legislative intent and public policy at issue.

In contrast, respondent's proposed remedy would obviously frustrate SB 1393's purpose and prevent many eligible defendants from obtaining relief under the bill. Although respondent concedes that appellant has a meritorious claim and elsewhere claims that requiring "strict compliance with section 1237.5 . . . [will] not impose an undue hardship on [such] defendants . . . ," the remedy respondent later proposes would impose an

undue hardship on eligible defendants, preclude relief for many, if not most, of them, and frustrate SB 1393's purpose of saving money and reducing the prison population. (See ROB 16, 32-33.) According to respondent, those who are still within the time limits of rules 8.304(b) and 8.308(a) would have to: 1) obtain a certificate of probable cause from the trial court; 2) challenge the validity of their plea on direct appeal; 3) request that the trial court set aside the plea agreement or obtain "the People's agreement" to modify the agreement; and 4) then request the trial court to exercise its discretion pursuant to the ameliorative legislation. (ROB 32-33, quoting Fox, supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 1139.) On the other hand, respondent claims that individuals like appellant who could not possibly comply with the time constraints of rules 8.304(b) and 8.308(a) could file before the date of finality a petition for habeas corpus in the trial court to withdraw their plea in the interests of justice under section 1018.6 (ROB 33.) Respondent further claims that a habeas that "merely invokes SB 1393 would be denied summarily . . . " and that a noncertificate appeal could not be treated as a habeas but also would have to be "summarily dismissed." (ROB 34-35, citing *Chavez*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 651.)

Respondent's insistence that defendants who entered into plea agreements can only obtain relief under retroactive ameliorative legislation like SB 1393 by seeking to withdraw their pleas or by obtaining the prosecution's consent to modify the plea agreement ignores *Doe*'s holding that the Legislature can unilaterally modify the terms of the agreement to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Section 1018 provides: "On application of the defendant at any time before judgment or within six months after an order granting probation is made if entry of judgment is suspended, the court may, and in case of a defendant who appeared without counsel at the time of the plea the court shall, for good cause shown, permit the plea of guilty to be withdrawn and a plea of guilty substituted."

one party's benefit and the other's detriment. As *Harris*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 993 makes clear, respondent's proposed remedy is only available where the retroactive application of a change in law decriminalizes the admitted offense entirely, thereby eviscerating the judgment. Moreover, any lingering doubt that could have remained in this regard was laid to rest by AB 1618, which expressly provides that plea agreements incorporate subsequent ameliorative legislation, and that the waiver of future benefits conferred by such legislation is void as against public policy.

Respondent's proposed remedy would also frustrate SB 1393's purpose of saving costs and reducing prison populations. As this Court concluded in Harris, supra, 1 Cal.5th at p. 992, permitting the prosecution to withdraw from plea agreements and revive dismissed counts in response to otherwise successful section 1170.18, subdivision (a) petitions would frustrate the initiative's cost saving purpose. The same is true with respect to the retroactive application of SB 1393 to plea agreements here. As explained above, since plea agreements resolve the vast majority of criminal cases, respondent's proposed remedy would thwart the bill's purpose to save money and reduce prison populations. Respondent's implicit assumption that plea agreements with stipulated sentences are somehow immune from retroactive ameliorative legislation flies in the face of AB 1618's language and import. There is also nothing in the relevant legislation or decisional law that supports respondent's suggestion that eligible defendants must meet the requirements of section 1018, which by its terms is only available when probation is granted. This would preclude relief to those who were not granted probation, would add another obstacle to the small class who were, is contrary to legislative intent behind both SB 1393 and AB 1618, and serves neither section 1237.5's cost saving purpose nor its purpose of weeding out frivolous appeals.

Respondent also contradictorily argues that the appellate court's decision below would both require a trial court to exercise its discretion pursuant to SB 1393 if the plea agreement had been reached after SB 1393 became effective and authorize "more beneficial treatment" for those who entered into plea agreements before SB 1393 became effective. (ROB 24-25, quoting Fox, supra, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 1137; see also ROB 35.) Contrary to respondent's claim, individuals who entered into plea agreements after AB 1393's effective date would not be entitled to have the trial court exercise its discretion to strike the enhancement because the bill was already part of the legal landscape at the time of the plea and thus made with full knowledge of the right that they were giving up, which is consistent with section 1016.8. Also, the appellate decision below does not authorize more beneficial treatment for those who entered into plea agreements prior to AB 1393's effective date but, rather, consistent with Estrada, levels the playing field between those with nonfinal cases who entered into plea agreements before and after SB 1393's effective date. As AB 1618 recognizes, a guilty plea cannot be knowing and intelligent where, as here, it is made without knowledge that future legislation will retroactively either eliminate a substantial portion of the sentence or grant a trial court discretion to do so.

More importantly, imposing the certificate requirement upon defendants like appellant, *Baldivia*, and *Hurlic*, who entered their pleas and were sentenced before the relevant legislation was passed or signed into law, would effectively require their clairvoyance in predicting the amendment. Indeed, even if such a defendant were to learn of the pending legislation before filing her request for a certificate, a trial court would reasonably deny the request as being unripe, and an appellate court could not be relied upon to solve the problem by granting a motion to file a late

request for a certificate. Dispensing with the certificate requirement in such circumstances therefore ensures the fair treatment of such defendants.

Respondent also ignores the substantial amount of leverage and bargaining power that mandatory enhancements like section 667, subdivision (a) conferred upon prosecutors seeking to obtain longer sentences. Given this leverage, prosecutors would undoubtedly have generally obtained longer stipulated sentences before SB 1393's enactment than after it. By retroactively conferring discretion on trial courts to consider striking such enhancements, and permitting them, in this context, to consider whether doing so would be incompatible with the terms of the agreement, the decision below properly balances the competing interests and equalizes the treatment of those with nonfinal cases who entered plea agreements before and after the amendment's effective date. (See Stamps, supra, 34 Cal.5th at p. 124.) This result is also consistent with the nondiscretionary retroactive application of SB 180 to plea agreements with stipulated sentences, which has resulted in the relevant enhancements being stricken in nonfinal cases in the SB 180 context. (See, e.g., People v. Milan (2018) 20 Cal. App. 5th 450, 452, 455; People v. Zabala (2018) 19

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> That is particularly true where, as here, other enhancements that were charged by the prosecution have been subsequently abrogated by Legislature. In this case, for example, the prosecution charged three one-year prison priors (§ 667.5, subd. (b)). (CT 1-5.) Effective January 1, 2020 Senate Bill 136 abrogates these enhancements for cases not involving the current charge of a sexually violent offense. (See § 667.5, subd (b), as amended by SB 136, Stats. 2019, ch. 590, § 1.) Since this bill applies retroactively under *Estrada*, it is clear that much of the bargaining power that the prosecution had in securing appellant's agreement to the 9 year prison term has subsequently been eliminated. *Stamps* properly permits the trial court to consider these and other factors in determining whether to strike the admitted five-year serious felony enhancement. (See *Stamps*, *supra*, 34 Cal.5th at p. 124.)

Cal.App.5th 335, 339, 344.) While the application of *Estrada* will inevitably result in some unevenness, the appellate decision below reduces it, appropriately harmonizes the relevant laws, and achieves a just resolution of the competing interests at stake.

Finally, respondent claims that its position is more conducive to plea bargaining than the result reached by the appellate court below. (See ROB 29-30.) Relying upon Galindo, respondent claims that "the incentive for both parties to agree to a bargain for a specified number of years is reduced by a rule allowing the trial court to unilaterally modify that bargain at some point in the future without the parties consent." (ROB 29, quoting Galindo, supra, 35 Cal.App.5th at p. 672.) According to respondent, the possibility "that a statute may be enacted sometime in the future providing for the possibility of a reduced punishment is simply one of many eventualities that, had they been known to the defendant at the time, might have discouraged him from accepting the terms of the plea bargain." (ROB 30.) Respondent further asserts that although the decision to plead guilty "frequently present[s] imponderable questions for which there are no certain answers . . . ' (Brady v. United States (1970) 397 U.S. 742, 756-757) ..., that is not a reason to permit an attack on the validity of the plea where the Legislature has not clearly authorized one . . . " (ROB 30.)

As explained above, this Court rejected a nearly identical claim in *Harris* and concluded that permitting the prosecution to withdraw from a plea agreement and reinstate dismissed charges in response to a successful section 1170.18, subdivision (a) petition would "disrupt [the plea negotiation] process," thereby undermining an "integral component" of the expeditious and fair administration of the criminal justice system. (*Harris*, *supra*, 1 Cal.5th at p. 992, quoting *Segura*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 929.) In any case, AB 1618 again definitely resolves the issue in

appellant's favor by unequivocally establishing that the Legislature has exercised its power to modify plea agreements by enacting ameliorative bills such as SB 1393. To the extent that there are "imponderable questions" posed by plea negotiations and agreements, this is not one of them. This Court should therefore conclude that the Legislature intended to apply SB 1393 to all nonfinal cases, including those involving plea agreements with stipulated sentences.

F. Nothing in the Plea Agreement Here Supports an Inference that Parties Intended to Insulate Themselves From Future Changes in the Law

As explained above, the *Fox* majority concluded that *Doe*'s rule that plea agreements incorporate subsequent changes in the law did not apply in that case in part because Fox entered his plea a week after SB 620 passed the Legislature and his trial counsel's comments at sentencing demonstrated that "the parties understood that Fox would *not* have the benefit of the new law once it went into effect." (*Fox*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 1135, emphasis in original, fn. omitted.)

In contrast, appellant entered his plea on November 7, 2017 and was sentenced on January 9, 2018, which was 9 months before SB 1393 was signed into law and over month before it was even introduced. (1 CT 24-25, 27-28, 52.) Unlike the situation in *Fox*, SB 1393 therefore was not "part of the legal landscape" at the time of plea and appellant could not possibility know about its existence, let alone, eventual passage. Imposing the certificate requirement under such circumstances would therefore be particularly unreasonable. Moreover, as respondent effectively concedes, there is no evidence that the parties intended to incorporate only the law in existence at the time of the plea. Since appellant therefore "seeks only to

raise [an] issue[] reserved by the plea agreement, and as to which he did not expressly waive the right to appeal . . . ," his appeal does not constitute an attack upon the validity of the appeal such that a certificate is required. (See *Buttram*, *supra*, 30 Cal.4th at p. 787; *Cuevas*, *supra*, 44 Cal.4th at p. 381.) In any case, as explained above, AB 1618 clarifies that such a waiver would be "void as against public policy" with respect to SB 1393 or any other retroactive ameliorative change of law. Further, the trial "court's acceptance of the negotiated sentence . . . does not clearly establish that the court would not have exercised discretion to strike the enhancement if it had that discretion . . . ," as required (*Stamps*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 124; *People v. Billingsley*, *supra*, 22 Cal.App.5th at p. 1081), and respondent does not claim otherwise.

#### G. Conclusion

For the forgoing reasons, appellant's appeal seeking retroactive benefits of SB 1393 does not constitute an attack upon the validity of the plea such that a certificate is required. The appellate court's decision should therefore be affirmed.

# II. RESPONDENT'S BELATED CLAIM THAT THIS APPEAL IS WAIVED IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED AND FAILS ON THE MERITS

Respondent belatedly claims in a footnote in its opening brief on the merits that appellant waived his right to raise the SB 1393 issue on appeal because he executed a general appellate waiver as part of his plea agreement. (ROB 11, fn. 3; *Stamps*, *supra*, 34 Cal.App.5th at p. 120, fn. 3.) This waiver provided: "I hereby give up my right to appeal from this conviction, including an appeal from the denial of any pretrial motions."

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